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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN
COURT FILE NO.: 22-cv-212

Sarah Haas, on behalf of herself and all
others similarly situated, CLASS ACTION
COMPLAINT

Plaintiff,
V. JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
eMoneyUSA Holdings LLC,

Defendant.

I.
INTRODUCTION

1. This is an action brought by Plaintiff Sarah Haas (“Plaintiff”) seeking redress for
violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. §1681, et seq. (“FCRA”), and
Wisconsin’s Privacy statute, Wis. Stat. § 995.50, committed by Defendant
eMoneyUSA Holdings, LLC (“Defendant eMoney”). Plaintiff seeks recovery of
actual, statutory, and punitive damages, her reasonably incurred costs and attorney
fees, as well as declaratory and injunctive relief.

IL.
JURISDICTION

2. Jurisdiction of this Court arises under 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. and 28 U.S.C §§

1331 and 1367 for pendent state law claims.

3. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because the
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conduct at issue occurred in this District, Plaintiff resides in this District, and
Defendant conducts business in this District. Ford Motor Co. vs. Montana Eighth
Judicial District Court, 2021 WL 1132515 (U.S. March 25, 2021).
I11.

PARTIES
Plaintiff is an individual residing in Saint Croix County, Wisconsin.
While Plaintiff is of normal intelligence, she lacks advanced sophistication in the
specific businesses of payday loan lead marketing and credit reporting.
Plaintiff was and is a “consumer” or “customer” as defined by Wis. Stat. §
421.301(17).
Plaintiff was and is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(c).
Plaintiff was and 1s a “person” as defined by Wis. Stat. § 990.01(26).
Plaintiff was and is a “person” as that term is used in Wis. Stat. § 995.50 and is
further entitled to the protections and remedies of Wis. Stat. § 995.50.
Defendant eMoney is a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of the
state of Kansas.
Defendant eMoney is headquartered at 8700 State Line Rd, Ste 350, Leawood,
Kansas, 66206.
Defendant eMoney has a registered agent of service of National Registered Agents,
Inc. of KS, 112 SW 7th Street Suite 3C, Topeka, KS 66603.

Defendant eMoney, is engaged in arranging or brokering consumer loans and
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transactions made at high interest and receiving payment for arranging or brokering
those loans and transactions.

Defendant eMoney regularly makes loans to Wisconsin residents repayable at high
interest rates, and collects money from Wisconsin residents on those loans, using
the mail and the internet.

Defendant eMoney regularly purchases leads, from licensed and unlicensed loan
brokers and lenders, of Wisconsin consumers who are interested in high interest
loans.

Defendant eMoney regularly sells leads, to licensed and unlicensed loan brokers and
lenders, of Wisconsin consumers who are interested in high interest loans.
Defendant eMoney is a sophisticated business, operating throughout Wisconsin.
Defendant eMoney is licensed by the Wisconsin Department of Financial
Institutions to make loans to Wisconsin residents, per Wis. Stat. § 138.09.
Defendant eMoney is a regular user of consumer reports and files under the FCRA,
is restricted by the FCRA as to whose consumer reports and files its accesses and is
further restricted by the FCRA as to whom it re discloses the information it receives.
Defendant eMoney is a “person” as defined by Wis. Stat. § 990.01(26).

Defendant eMoney is also a “person” as that term is used in Wis. Stat. § 995.50 and
is burdened by and subject to the remedies of Wis. Stat. § 995.50.

Defendant eMoney was and is a “merchant” as defined by Wis. Stat. § 421.301(25).

Per the “Terms of Use” section of its website, Defendant eMoney acknowledges
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that it regularly arranges or obtains consumer loans for those who apply for credit.
Because Defendant eMoney regularly arranges, brokers, or obtains consumer loans
for Wisconsin consumers made at high interest, Defendant eMoney would otherwise
be a credit services organization (“CSO”) as defined by Wis. Stat. § 425.501(2).
While Defendant eMoney is not registered to act as a CSO in Wisconsin, it is maybe
exempt from such registration per Wis. Stat. § 425.501(2)(b)(1).

Defendant eMoney regularly contracts with CSO’s for the purchase of leads, i.e.,
the names, the PII and the PFI of Wisconsin consumers who are likely to contract
with a payday lender.

Defendant eMoney regularly pays money and or other valuable consideration to
CSOs for these leads.

Defendant eMoney is liable for the acts of its employees, agents, and independent
contractors under theories of respondeat superior, agency, and vicarious liability.
As a business conducting its affairs within the United States generally, and
Wisconsin specifically, Defendant eMoney is deemed to know what is lawful and
what 1s unlawful under US and Wisconsin law. Barlow v. United States, 8 L. Ed.
728 (1833)(“ignorance of the law will not excuse any person, either civilly or
criminally”); Atkins v. Parker, 472 U.S. 115, 130 (1985)(“all citizens are
presumptively charged with knowledge of the law”); Putnam v. Time Warner Cable
of Southeastern Wisconsin, LP, 2002 WI 108, 9 13 & footnote 4, 255 Wis.2d 447,

458 (Wis. 2002)(“Wisconsin has adopted the mistake of law doctrine”).



30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

Case: 3:22-cv-00212 Document #: 1 Filed: 04/13/22 Page 5 of 16

IVv.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
Plaintiff ordered and requested a copy of her consumer credit report and file from
Clarity Services, Inc. (“Clarity”).
The information assembled by Clarity about Plaintiff constitutes a “consumer
report” under the FCRA, as the information is used for and bears “on a consumer’s
credit worthiness, credit standing, credit capacity, character, general reputation
personal characteristics or mode of living ...” 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d)(1).
The information assembled by Clarity about Plaintiff constitutes a “consumer
report” under the FCRA, as the information is assembled and is used “for the
purpose of furnishing consumer reports to third parties ...” 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d)(1).
The information about Sarah Plaintiff, held by and released by Clarity to Plaintiff,
constituted a “consumer report” under the FCRA. 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d)(1).
The information about Plaintiff, requested by and obtained by various entities
including Defendant eMoney, constituted a “consumer report” under the FCRA. 15
U.S.C. § 1681a(d)(1).
Clarity is a “consumer reporting agency” under the FCRA, as “for monetary fees”
Clarity “regularly engages in ... the practice of assembling or evaluating consumer
credit information or other information on consumers ...” 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f).
Clarity creates, generates, and produces consumer credit reports and files on a

regular basis, and derives the information in these reports and files from large
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amounts of information it collects and maintains on individuals like Plaintiff in a
data base called a consumer file.

Clarity prepared and mailed to Plaintiff her consumer credit report and file dated
March 18, 2021.

The consumer credit report and file produced by Clarity on March 18, 2021 and
mailed to Plaintiff runs fifty-nine (59) pages, and is full of vast amounts of personal
identifiable information (“PII”) and personal financial information (“PFI”),
including but not limited to her name, address, and social security number, as well
as her financial transaction history.

When Plaintiff obtained her Clarity consumer credit report and file, she learned that
Defendant eMoney had twice accessed her Clarity consumer credit report and file
on June 22, 2020.

Plaintiff has never applied for credit with Defendant eMoney, nor has Plaintiff ever
authorized Defendant eMoney to access, download, obtain or view her Clarity
consumer credit report and file.

Plaintiff has never authorized Defendant eMoney to access, download, obtain or
view her consumer credit report and file as maintained by any other consumer
reporting agency.

In the past, Defendant eMoney has purchased consumer leads in the payday loan
lead generation market.

In the past, Defendant eMoney has purchased consumer leads in the payday loan
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lead generation market from loan brokers that are not licensed or registered in
Wisconsin as credit services organizations (“CSO”) or exempt from licensing or
registration as credit services organizations (“CSO”).

By operation of Wis. Stat. §§ 422.501 - 506, any agreement between an unlicensed
or unregistered loan broker and a lead buyer, is void per Wis. Stat. § 425.305.

By operation of Wis. Stat. §§ 422.501 - 506, any purported right to access a
consumer’s credit report and file, arising from an agreement between an unlicensed
or unregistered loan broker and a lead buyer, is void per Wis. Stat. § 425.305.

By operation of Wis. Stat. §§ 422.501 - 506, any loan brokered by an unlicensed or
unregistered loan broker is void per Wis. Stat. § 425.305.

Such a thing happened here, as Defendant eMoney received Plaintiff’s PII and PFI
from an unlicensed and unregistered loan broker, and without Plaintiff’s knowledge
or consent accessed, downloaded, obtained, or viewed additional PII and PFI about
Plaintiff contained in her consumer credit report and file as maintained by Clarity.
Each time Defendant eMoney accessed Plaintiff’s Clarity consumer credit report
and file, it obtained large amounts of her personal identifiable information (“PII”)
and personal financial information (“PFI”), including but not limited to her name,
address, and social security number, as well as her credit score and financial
transaction history.

After receiving Plaintiff’s PII and PFI from Clarity and other consumer reporting

agencies, Defendant eMoney forwarded Plaintiff’s PII and PFI to other various high



50.

51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

57.

Case: 3:22-cv-00212 Document #: 1 Filed: 04/13/22 Page 8 of 16

interest lenders and loan brokers.

When Defendant eMoney forwarded Plaintiff’s PII and PFI to various high interest
lenders and loan brokers, it did so for compensation.

When Defendant eMoney forwarded Plaintiff’s PII and PFI to various high interest
lenders and loan brokers for compensation, Defendant eMoney did so illegally and
unlawfully.

Defendant eMoney received compensation from these high interest lenders and loan
brokers for forwarding Plaintiff’s PII and PFI.

Defendant eMoney is required by state and federal law including the FCRA to adopt
and maintain procedures designed to both protect consumer credit information and
to limit its obtainment as well as its dissemination to proper parties.

Defendant eMoney has NOT adopted nor maintained procedures adequately
designed to both protect consumer credit information and to limit its obtainment as
well as its dissemination to proper parties.

Defendant eMoney is prohibited by state and federal law including the FCRA from
releasing Plaintiff’s consumer credit report and file to third parties absent a
permissible purpose under the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681b(a)(1 through 6) and (f).
None of the circumstances listed in 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(a)(1 through 6) are present
here, as, there is no “credit transaction” or “credit application” initiated by Plaintiff,
and no “business transaction” was initiated by Plaintiff.

The initiation of a “credit transaction” or “credit application” or “business
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transaction” by a third party is not a permissible purpose under the FCRA.
Defendant eMoney is required by the FCRA to adopt and maintain procedures
designed to limit and restrict its access to consumer credit information, except where
a permissible purpose to access the information exists. 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(f).
Contrary to its duties under 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(f), Defendant eMoney twice
unlawfully accessed, downloaded, obtained, and viewed a complete copy of
Plaintiff’s consumer credit report and file as maintained by Clarity.

The referenced inquiries have become a permanent component of Plaintiff’s credit
report and file and is reported to those who ask to review the credit history of
Plaintiff.

Defendant eMoney agreed and represented in its agreements with the various credit
reporting agencies that Defendant eMoney would request and use consumer reports
and files which were obtained from said agencies only for purposes which are lawful
under the FCRA as defined under §1681b.

Defendant eMoney is and was required by §§ 1681b, 1681n, and 1681q to refrain
from obtaining consumer reports and files and files from credit reporting agencies
under false pretenses, or without a legal basis.

At no time material hereto did Plaintiff ever have a relationship with Defendant
eMoney of the kind specified under §1681b(a)(3)(A) - (F).

Plaintiff has never given written instructions to Defendant eMoney to access,

download, obtain, review and/or release to a third party a consumer report and file
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of which Plaintiff was the subject.

Defendant eMoney has never been ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction to
obtain or release a copy of Plaintiff’s consumer credit report and file pursuant to §
1681b(1).

Defendant eMoney has an affirmative duty to follow reasonable procedures,
including those that would prevent the impermissible accessing of consumer credit
reports and files.

Reasonable procedures for users include restricting the ability of Defendant
eMoney’s agents, contractors, and employees to obtain or release consumer credit
report and files on consumers for any impermissible purpose.

Defendant eMoney’s illegal, unlawful, and impermissible dissemination,
acquisition and / or redisclosure of Plaintiff’s consumer credit report and file
violates Plaintiff’s privacy rights under state and federal law including the FCRA.
Defendant eMoney’s actions have impaired Plaintiff’s future access to credit.

As a result of eMoney’s actions and omissions, Sarah Haas has suffered a loss of
her privacy, and has suffered damages, including emotional distress, mental
anguish, fear, anger, frustration, and embarrassment.

The damages Plaintiff suffered because of Defendant eMoney’s actions and
omissions are directly traceable to Defendant eMoney’s conduct and are likely to

be redressed by a favorable decision in this action.

_10_
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CLASS ALLEGATIONS

Plaintiff brings this action individually and as a class action.

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a-b), Plaintiff seeks to certify a class:
All persons whose consumer reports were obtained and/or used by
Defendant from April 13, 2020, through to the present, when at the
time the consumer report was obtained/used by Defendant, these
persons did not have a credit relationship with Defendant.

The class consists of persons who did not have a credit relationship with Defendant

at the time of the consumer report access and for which Defendant had no

permissible purpose as set forth in 15 U.S.C. 1681b.

The class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impractical. Upon

information and belief, Defendant has unlawfully accessed the credit files of

hundreds of consumers in the United States.

There are questions of law and fact, common to the class, which predominate over

any questions affecting only individual class members. The principal question is

whether Defendant’s conduct in connection with unlawfully accessing consumers’
credit files in the manner alleged (or described) violates the FCRA.

There are no individual questions, other than the identification of class members

which can be determined by ministerial inspection of Defendant.

The Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class and is

committed to vigorously litigating this matter. Plaintiff has retained counsel

experienced in handling class actions of this type and consumer claims. Neither

_11_
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Plaintiff nor her counsel has any interest which might cause them not to vigorously
pursue this claim.
Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the class, which all arise from the same
operative facts and based on the same legal theories.
A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of the controversy pursuant to Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure.
V.
CAUSES OF ACTION
COUNT 1.

FAIR CREDIT REPORTING ACT

Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the foregoing paragraphs.

Defendant eMoney willfully and/or negligently violated provisions of the Fair
Credit Reporting Act. Defendant eMoney’s violations include, but are not limited
to the following:

(a)  Defendant eMoney violated 15 U.S.C. §1681b(f) by
willfully and/or negligently

(b)  obtaining Plaintiff’s consumer credit report and file without a
permissible

(c)  purpose under the FCRA.

(d)  Defendant eMoney violated 15 U.S.C. §1681b(f) by
willfully and/or negligently

(e)  disseminating Plaintiff’s consumer credit report and file without a

permissible
(f)  purpose under the FCRA.

As a result of the above violations of the FCRA, Defendant eMoney is liable to

_12_
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Plaintiff in the sum of Plaintiff’s actual damages, statutory punitive damages, costs,
disbursements, and reasonable attorney's fees.
COUNT 2.

WISCONSIN’S PRIVACY STATUTE

Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the foregoing paragraphs.

The information concerning Plaintiff, as contained in the consumer credit report and
file maintained by Clarity, includes nonpublic PII such as Plaintiff’s social security
number, and further includes nonpublic personal financial information (“PFI’’) such
as her banking information, and her credit score.

The information concerning Plaintiff, as contained in the consumer credit report and
file maintained by Clarity, is private, and is of a highly personal nature.

Similar information concerning any reasonable person of ordinary sensibilities,
would also be considered private and of a highly personal nature.

The unlawful accessing of that information by Defendant eMoney is highly
offensive to Plaintiff.

The unlawful re disclosure of that information by Defendant eMoney is highly
offensive to Plaintiff.

Any unlawful accessing and re disclosure of similar information of any reasonable
person of ordinary sensibilities, would be highly offensive to any such person.
Defendant eMoney acted unreasonably and recklessly in accessing, as well as

subsequently re disclosing, Plaintiff’s information including PII and PFI about

_13_
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Plaintiff.
While Plaintiff’s PII and PFI were not disclosed to the public, Plaintiff’s PII and
PFI were disclosed to an audience that includes companies that Plaintiff has never
contracted with, companies that Plaintiff has never authorized to receive such
information, and companies that Plaintiff has no control over including potentially
companies based and operating outside the United States and Wisconsin, and
outside the jurisdiction of United States and Wisconsin courts.
Defendant eMoney willfully and/or recklessly violated Wis. Stat. § 995.50(2)(a &
¢), including its prohibition on accessing and then re disclosing Plaintiff’s PII and
PFI.
As a result of the above violations of Wis. Stat. § 995.50, Defendant eMoney is
liable to Plaintiff in the sum of Plaintiff’s actual damages, punitive damages, costs,
disbursements, and reasonable attorney's fees, along with any appropriate injunctive
relief.
VI.

REQUEST FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that Judgment be entered as follows:
COUNT 1

(a)  certifying the action as a class;
(b)  actual damages;
(b)  punitive damages;

(c)  statutory damages of $1,000.00 per violation;

_14_
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(e)

COUNT 2
(2)
(b)
(b)

(e)

(d)  costs and reasonable attorney's fees; and

such other and further relief as the court deems just and equitable.

certifying the action as a class;

actual damages;

punitive damages;

(c)  declaratory and injunctive relief:

(d)  costs and reasonable attorney's fees; and

such other and further relief as the court deems just and equitable.

VIIL.

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY

96.  Plaintiff hereby demands that, to the extent provided by the United States and

Wisconsin Constitutions, United States and Wisconsin Statutes, and United States

and Wisconsin Common Law, these claims be determined by a jury of her peers.

Dated this 13th day of April 2022 By: s/Thomas J Lyons Jr

Eric Leighton Crandall, Esq.
CRANDALL LAW FIRM, S.C.

421 West Second Street

PO Box 27

New Richmond, WI 54017
715-243-9996 (p)
WisconsinConsumerLaw@frontier.com
Wis. Atty. Lic. No. 1001833

Thomas J. Lyons Jr., Esq.
MN Attorney 1.D. #: 0249646
CONSUMER JUSTICE CENTER P.A.

_15_
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367 Commerce Court

Vadnais Heights, MN 55127
Telephone: 651-770-9707
Facsimile: 651-704-0907

Email:
tommy(@consumerjusticecenter.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
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Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the
citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity
cases.)

III.  Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this
section for each principal party.

IV.  Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code
that is most applicable. Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.

V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.
Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.
Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.
Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing
date.
Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date.
Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or
multidistrict litigation transfers.
Multidistrict Litigation — Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C.
Section 1407.
Multidistrict Litigation — Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket.
PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to
changes in statute.

VI.  Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional
statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service.

VII. Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.
Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.

Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Western District of Wisconsin

Sarah Haas, on behalf of herself and all others similarly
situated

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 22-cv-212

eMoneyUSA Holdings LLC,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) eMoneyUSA Holdings LLC
National Registered Agents, Inc. of KS
112 SW 7th Street Suite 3C
Topeka, KS 66603

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Eric Leighton Crandall, Esq.

CRANDALL LAW FIRM, S.C.

421 West Second Street

PO Box 27

New Richmond, WI 54017
WisconsinConsumerLaw@frontier.com

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date: 04/13/2022

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No. 22-cv-212

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

3 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because por
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

i Seers |
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